2007

Maxine B. Nickel Trust, Palatial Living Mobile Home Park v. Craig Carlsen, D. Craig Carlsen, David Craig Carlsen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is conferred upon Utah Court of Appeal under assignment by the

Supreme Court of the State of Utah in this matter under the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(4).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES TO BE PRESENTED ON APPEAL.

I. Whether the Reviewing Judge's Decision on the Affidavit of Prejudice was improperly influenced and tainted by the Palatial Living's written Objections which were not appropriately filed under Rule 63(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and improperly submitted to the court for a decision under Rule 7, and whether the Affidavit was sufficient to disqualify Judge Hadfield. *Barnard v. Murphy*, 852 P.2d 1023, (Utah App. 1993); and *Young v. Patterson*, 922 P.2d 1280 (Utah 1996).

The standard of review to review this issue on appeal is that a judge's authority to review the affidavit under Rule 63(b) is a question of law that the appellate court reviews for correctness, affording no deference to the trial court. *Pugh v. Dozzo-Hughes*, 2005 UT App 203, ¶ 17, 112 P.3d 1247.

Carlsen adequately preserved this issue for appeal by filing a Reply Memorandum to Palatial Living's Objections to the Affidavit of Prejudice and by filing Objections to Palatial Living's Notice to Submit their Objections to the trial court for a decision. (R. 409, 424, 463, 470, 480, 483, and 946).

II. Whether the trial erred in granting the Palatial Living's motion for summary judgment because the court reviewed the evidence and all reasonable inference in the light most favorable to them rather than Carlsen and Palatial Living was not entitled to

summary judgment as a matter of law. Utah Mobile Home Park Residency Act, Utah Code Ann. § 57-16-9; § 57-16-4; 57-15-12. ***Brookside Mobile Home Park, Ltd. v. Peebles***, 2000 UT App 314, 14 P.3d 105, *affirmed*, 2002 UT 48, ¶¶ 28-32, 48 P.3d 968; ***Coleman v. Thomas***, 2000 UT ¶ 21, 4 P.3d 783; ***Secor v. Knight***, 716 P.2d 790 (Utah 1986); ***Dean v. Tasulis***, 2002 UT 52, 48 P.3d 235; ***King v. Firm***, 3 Utah 2d 419, 285 P.2d 1114 (Utah 1955); ***Rancho Santa Paula Mobile home Park v. Evans***, 26 Cal. App. 4th 1139, 32 Cal Rptr. 2d 464 (Cal App. Dist. 2, 1994); ***Pleasant View Campground, Inc. v. Hood***, 120 N.H. 86, 411 A.2d 1104 (N.H. 1980); and ***Mobile Home Brokers, Inc. v. Alvin Colvin, Jr. dba, Lazy Oaks Mobile Home Park***, 566 S.W.2d 68 (Tex App. 1978).

The standard of review to review this issue on appeal is that an appellate court reviews the trial court's grant of a motion for summary judgment for correctness, affording no deference to the trial court. ***Ford v. American Express Fin. Advisors***, 2004 UT 70 ¶ 21, 98 P.3d 540. Summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. Utah R.Civ. 56(c). When considering a motion for summary judgment, the appellate court views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. ***Carrier v. Salt Lake County***, 2004 UT 98 ¶ 3, 104 P.3d 1208.

Carlsen adequately preserved this issue for appeal by filing a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment and a Motion to Strike Palatial Living's Memorandum in support of Motion for Summary Judgment as being in non compliance

with Rule 7 and Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. 1292, 1298, 1300, 1304, 1310, 1349, 1360).

III. Whether Carlsen was denied his rights to access to the courts as provided under Article I, § 11 of the Utah Constitution when the trial court failed to render a decision on all issues in his counterclaim and his Third-Party Complaint. Whether Carlsen was also denied his rights to access to the courts when he was denied access to the records in this case when the record was transferred from the Clerk of the Court of the First District Court of Cache County to the Clerk of the Court of the First District Court of Box Elder County in violation of Rule 4-205(3) of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration and Utah Code Ann. § 78-3-30 when no change of venue was granted under the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 78-13-11, and no appeal was pending.

The standard of review to review this issue on appeal is that an appellate court reviews a question of law for correctness and affords no deference to the trial court.

Pugh v. Dozzo-Hughes, 2005 UT App 203, ¶ 17, 112 P.3d 1247.

Carlsen adequately preserved this issue for appeal by filing Objections to the Memorandum Decision and Order Granting Summary Judgment. (R. 1360).

IV. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying the defendant's two motion to amend the counterclaim based upon newly discovered evidence. The January 30, 2001 letter from Palatial Living's attorney to Brannick Larsen, Shi Dean, and Lyle Cooper. [Exhibit V] (R. 696, 703). Rule 15(a) mandates that leave to amend pleadings

“shall be freely given when justice so requires.” Utah R.Civ.P 15(a). Moreover, “rule 15 should be interpreted liberally so as to allow parties to have their claims fully adjudicated.

Timm v. Dewsnap, 851 P.2d 1178, 1183 (Utah 1993).

The standard of review of a denial to amend pleadings is abuse of discretion.

Kasco Servs. Corp., Benson, 831 P.2d 86, 92 (Utah 1992).

Carlsen adequately preserved this issue for appeal by filing two different motions to amend the third-party complaint and counterclaim with supporting memoranda. (R. 272, 347, 365, 696, 703, and 780).

V. Whether the trial court violated the provisions of Rule 77(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure by conducting hearings over Carlsen’s written and verbal objections outside the county in which the matter was pending in Cache County, State of Utah.

The standard of review to review this issue on appeal is that an appellate court reviews a question of law for correctness and affords no deference to the trial court.

Pugh v. Dozzo-Hughes, 2005 UT App 203, ¶ 17, 112 P.3d 1247.

Carlsen adequately preserved this issue for appeal by filing written Objections to the hearings being held outside of Cache County. (R. 826).

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL, STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The following determinative constitutional, statutory, and rules are set out verbatim in the Addendum.

Utah Mobile Home Residency Act, Utah Code Ann. § 57-16-1, et seq.

Utah Code Ann. § 57-16-2.

Utah Code Ann. § 57-16-7.

Utah Code Ann. § 57-16-9.

Utah Code Ann. § 57-16-12.

Utah Code Ann. § 57-16-13.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-8-512.

Utah Code Ann. § 53-13-103.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-3-30.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-13-11.

Rule 15 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rule 63(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rule 77 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rule 4-205(3), Utah Code of Judicial Administration.

Rule 3-104 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration

Rule 3-108 of the Utah Code of Judicial Administration

Article I, § 10 of the Utah Constitution.

Article I, § 11 of the Utah Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS:

This is an appeal from Order Granting Summary Judgment in favor of the plaintiff

and against the defendant on all issues in the Defendant's Counterclaim from the First Judicial District Court of Cache County, State of Utah, Case No. 040100970.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS:

This appeal involves a counterclaim regarding a dispute between a mobile home park and a tenant under the Mobile Home Residency Act.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT:

The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the mobile home park against the tenant on all issues in the counterclaim including issues that were not raised in the Motion and Memorandum for Summary Judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS:

1. The pleadings in this case shows that the mobile home located at 481 West 640 North, Logan, Utah was sold to the Carlsen on June 6, 2001 by the lienholder. Lyle Cooper, under the provisions of Utah Code Annotated, § 57-16-9, after the mobile home had previously been abandoned by the previous owner, Brannick Larsen and his family. "Defendant's Exhibit "H" incorporated into defendant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings making reference to Brannick Larsen and Our File No. N-4300.15." (R. 127, 129).

2. Carlsen entered into Earnest Money Receipt and Real Estate Purchase Contract on May 30, 2001 through the Brokerage Firm of Town and Country Real Estate, to purchase upon condition of Palatial Living acceptance and immediate possession. a 1974

Hacienda, Model 519, Mobile Home, VIN # 518733U/X which is located at 481 West 640 North, Logan, Utah, from Lyle Cooper. Shi Dean was not a licensed motor vehicle dealer under the laws of the State of Utah at the time of the sale of the mobile home. The Earnest Money Receipt and Purchase Agreement is marked Defendant's Exhibit "A" which is attached to the original Counterclaim and made a part thereof. (R. 017). There was no disclosure by the real estate broker and agent, Shi Dean to Carlsen, before entering into the earnest money purchase agreement of the contents of a January 30, 2001 letter which informed her and the lienholder, Lyle Cooper that Palatial Living Mobile Home Park demanded that the mobile home be moved from the park or substantial repairs made to the home before being sold. No repairs were made by Lyle Cooper during the period between January 30, 2001 and May 30, 2001.

3. Carlsen on the 30th day of May, 2001, submitted an application for a lease agreement to Palatial Living Management, together with a excellent credit report that verified his employment. Carlsen was required to pay a \$ 25.00 application fee to Palatial Living. There was no disclosure to Carlsen at the time of Palatial Living accepting the lease application and receiving the \$ 25.00 fee of the contents of the January 30, 2001 letter from Palatial Living to Brannick Larsen, Lyle Cooper and Shi Dean. Palatial Living demanded under paragraph number three (3) of the letter that the mobile home be moved or substantial repairs made to the home before being sold. The January 30, 2001 letter which is incorporated as Defendant's Exhibit "V" into the defendant's proposed

Second Amended Counterclaim (R. 696, 703), was not known to Carlsen and was discovered by Carlsen through discovery in this pending case. There was no prior disclosure by Palatial Living at the time of submitting the lease application of the requirement of a \$ 380.00 security deposit nor was there any disclosure by Palatial Living of the Rules and Regulations that would be required to abide by if the application for a lease was approved. The Mobile Home Residency Act was not posted in a conspicuous place in the park and were not furnished to Carlsen. The Rules & Regulations were not disclosed until six weeks after Carlsen purchased the mobile home on June 6, 2001.

3. Lyle Cooper and Shi Dean of Town & Country Real Estate during the period of the sale of said mobile home were represented by Stephen W. Jewell, Attorney at Law and Carlsen at such time was not represented by counsel.

4. An inspection of said mobile home occurred on the 6th day of June, 2001 between Palatial Living, Lyle Cooper, Shi Dean, and their attorney, Stephen Jewell. Carlsen having previously submitted a lease application to Palatial Living on May 30, 2001, which gave notice that he intended to purchase the mobile home was not given any notice by Palatial Living or any other party of such inspection.

5. An Addendum to the Earnest Money Purchase Agreement prepared by the Real Estate Broker. Shi Dean was entered into between Carlsen and Lyle Cooper after the inspection of the mobile home on the 6th day of June, 2001. The Addendum disclosed that the siding and porch on the east side of the mobile home would be painted by Carlsen

and Lyle Cooper would furnish the paint. Lyle Cooper was to replace the north west corner seam. The Addendum also disclosed that the skirting on the south side would need to be replaced and Carlsen agreed to pay \$ 300.00 for such skirting. Lyle Cooper was to replace the outside carpet on the eastside porch and repair the porch of which he failed to do so. The Addendum is marked as Defendant's Exhibit "B" which is attached to the original Counterclaim. (R. 017). Carlsen affirmatively asserted in the trial court that Lyle Cooper failed to make any repairs other than furnishing paint and his partial payment toward the skirting to be replaced. Cooper failed to replace the carpet on the porch, repair the porch, and the north west corner post was not replaced by Cooper.

6. Carlsen on the 6th day of June, 2001 entered into an Installment Promissory Note, whereby he agreed to pay Lyle Cooper the sum of \$ 32,500.00, on monthly installments of \$ 300.00 per month at a interest rate of 9.35% for the mobile home located at 481 West 640 North, Logan, Utah. Lyle Cooper on the 6th day of June, 2001 also executed a Bill of Sale. The Installment Promissory Note is marked Defendant's Exhibit "C" and the Bill of Sale is marked Defendant's Exhibit "D" which is attached to the original Counterclaim. (R. 017). Carlsen was thereupon informed by Shi Dean that it would be a couple of days before he could move into the mobile home.

7. Carlsen as a condition of acceptance by Palatial Living as the new owner and permitting him to move in was required to execute an agreement on June 13, 2001 to make numerous repairs to the mobile home that substantially differ from the disclosure of

repairs in the Addendum to the Earnest Money Purchase Agreement. Defendant's Exhibit "E" which is attached to the original Counterclaim. (R. 017).

8. Carlsen as a condition to acceptance by Palatial Living as the new owner and permitting him to move in was also required to execute an additional agreement on June 13, 2001, to reside the entire mobile home that he was required to repair and paint before the mobile home could be subsequently sold. Defendant's Exhibit "F" which is attached to the original Counterclaim. (R. 017). This agreement prevented and barred Carlsen from selling the mobile home since June 13, 2001. Furthermore, the parks rules prevented Carlsen from renting the mobile home. Carlsen was informed thereafter by the Real Estate Broker, Shi Dean that he could move into the mobile home. Carlsen moved into the mobile home and discovered that his move in occurred over Palatial Living's objections.

9. Carlsen, two months after submitting his lease application, entered into a lease agreement with Palatial Living on the 27th day of July, 2001 and at that time was required to pay a \$ 380.00 security deposit. The lease is incorporated into Palatial Living's complaint. (R. 003).

10. While Carlsen was in good faith working on and making repairs on the west side of the mobile home on August 6, 2001, he received a letter attached to the door on the east side of the mobile home from the manager, Tawnya Franckowiak. The letter demanded that he make repairs to the mobile home that he was in the process of making.

Carlsen on August 7, 2001, received an identical letter through the United States Mail, both letters having original signatures. Defendant's Exhibit "G1" and Exhibit "G2" which is attached to the original Counterclaim. (R. 017).

11. Carlsen thereafter received a letter, dated, August 9, 2001 from the attorney representing Palatial Living authorizing an extension of time at the request of Stephen Jewell, attorney for Lyle Cooper. Defendant's Exhibit "H" which is attached to the original Counterclaim. (R. 017). This letter placed a condition for an extension of time to make repairs to require Carlsen and not Lyle Cooper to make additional repairs that were not included the repair document, dated June 13, 2001. (R. 017, Defendant's Exhibit "E").

12. Carlsen on August 13, 2001, received a Notice from the manager, Tawnya Franckowiak, demanding that Carlsen remove his vehicle from the park and repair his vehicle because of a minor power steering fluid leak before returning the vehicle to the park property. Exhibit "I" which is attached to the original Counterclaim. (R.017).

Carlsen's vehicle at the time was parked on a roadway inside Palatial Living that had previously been maintained and resurfaced by the Logan City Street Department and was a right of way for adjacent property owners who were not living inside Palatial Living Mobile Home Park..

13. Carlsen as ordered by Tawnya Franckowiak, caused repairs to be made to his vehicle in the sum of \$ 413.63. Defendant's Exhibit "J" which is attached to the original

Counterclaim. (R. 017).

14. Carlsen since June 6, 2001, did make substantial upgrades and improvements to the mobile home such as replacement of a 28 year old water heater; replacement and upgrade of the cook top; replacement and upgrade of the fan over the cook top; replacement of heat tape; replacement of west side exterior light fixture; replacement of furnace room door for better ventilation; repairs to both toilets and swamp cooler; a substantial amount of caulking and insulation, both inside and outside of the mobile home; substantial repairs and painting of both the east side and west side porches and he was required to pay for such paint; caulking and painting of the entire exterior siding of mobile home; painting of the exterior of the east side door; repair of the northwest seam; payment of \$ 300.00 towards skirting of entire mobile home; removal of all creeping vines; substantial changes in landscape; and the painting of the door and roof to storage shed.

15. During the entire period of Carlsen's tenancy, he has received numerous documents from the Palatial Living Management attached to his door, Defendant's Exhibits K1, K2, K3, K4, K5, and K6 attached to the original Counterclaim. (R. 017). The documents shows an unauthorized exercise, dominion and control over Carlsen's personal property to exclusion of or inconsistent with his ownership rights as follows:

(a). Unauthorized dominion and control over Carlsen's heat tape and its use and the conversion of the electricity used for the heat tape that Carlsen purchased directly

from Logan City Utilities. The documents informed Carlsen when to turn on and off the heat tapes. That such dominion and control over the use of the heat tape would be similar to a landlord telling a tenant when they can turn on and off their lights when the electricity is purchased by the tenant directly from a utility company.

(b). Unauthorized dominion and control over the water that Carlsen purchased directly from Logan City Utilities. The documents informed Carlsen at what time of the day that he could water the lawn, but Palatial Living violated their own water restrictions policies by watering the lawns in vacant spaces during their prohibited hours. Carlsen's water was purchased directly from Logan City. (R. 017, Defendant's Exhibit "K3", ¶ 4. Defendant's Exhibit "K6", ¶ 4).

(c). Unauthorized dominion and control over Carlsen's swamp cooler and its use.

(d). Unauthorized dominion and control over the Carlsen's garden hoses and their use. The documents would instruct Carlsen as to when to place the garden hose in the storage building.

(e). Unauthorized dominion and control over the defendant's Dish Network Satellite System whereby such dominion and control is preempted by FCC Regulations, 47 C.F.R. Section 1.4000. (R. 017, Defendant's Exhibit "K6", ¶ 7). See, FCC Fact Sheet at page 8. Franckowiak under ¶ 14, § I of the Rules and Regulations, ordered the Carlsen to remove his satellite system when he first installed in the year 2001, and at a time when a substantial number of other Palatial Living residents had a dish satellite system. Upon

furnishing Franckowiak with the FCC Fact Sheet, Carlsen was ordered to move the satellite dish from the storage shed that he owned to a different location in violation of the FCC rule as per Defendant's Exhibit "T" and Defendant's Exhibit "U" attached to defendant's proposed Second Amended Counterclaim. (R. 696, 703). Carlsen requested the trial court to take Judicial Notice of the contents of Defendant's Exhibit "T" and Defendant's Exhibit "U" regarding satellite dish systems in mobile home parks.

(f). Unauthorized dominion and control over the Carlsen's mobile home and its use.

16. Palatial Living, together with Lyle Cooper and Shi Dean on the 21st day of April, 2004, without any valuable consideration, attempted to obtain possession, title, and ownership rights to Carlsen's mobile home and personal property. Palatial Living through their attorney, together with Lyle Cooper, and Shi Dean attempted to have the lien holder's attorney, Stephen Jewell, sign a stipulation without any notice to Carlsen, authorizing conveyance of his title and possession of such personal property to the lienholder, Lyle Cooper without any consideration, and without payment for any required repairs and improvements made by Carlsen as per Defendant's Exhibit "P" attached to the original Counterclaim. (R. 017).

17. The court separated the Palatial Living's complaint from Carlsen's counterclaim which included a third-party complaint and a demand for a jury trial. (R. 780, 959).

Carlsen filed two motions to amend the counterclaim and third-party complaint, but each motion was denied by the trial court. (R. 266, 272, 696, 703, 780, 959) The third-party complaint was dismissed by the court upon Palatial Living's motion and not upon the motion of any third-party defendants. (R. 335, 375, 780, 959).

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