2007

Maxine B. Nickel Trust, Palatial Living Mobile Home Park v. David Craig Carlsen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The open courts provision of the Utah Constitution does not allow a litigant to maintain frivolous or unsupported lawsuits through trial. The provision only ensures that litigants can secure their day in court and that litigants may have their lawsuits decided on the merits; it does not allow litigants to press unsupportable causes of action to trial. *Jenkins v. Percival*, 962 P.2d 796, 799 (Utah 1998); *Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp.*, 717 P.2d 670, 675 (Utah 1985).

The undisputed record in this case shows that Carlsen was given his day in court as well as a full hearing on the merits of his counterclaim. Carlsen clearly was allowed to bring suit. The Court also analyzed the merits of Carlsen's lawsuits. Judge Hadfield found that there was no genuine issue of material fact on any cause of action Carlsen asserted. He therefore granted summary judgment on all causes of action.

Tellingly, Carlsen fails to proffer a single argument that would suggest that the Court incorrectly granted summary judgment on Counts IV through VII. He has therefore waived the right to bring these arguments in his Reply Brief. *Maack v. IHC Health Services, Inc.*, 2007 UT App 244, ¶ 30, 166 P.3d 631, citing *Brown v. Glover*, 2000 UT 89, ¶ 23, 16 P.3d 540 (citation omitted). See also *Wilson v. Alaska Dept. of Corrections*, 127 P.3d 826, 833 n.41 (Ala. 2006) (noting that a *pro se* appellant waived his right to raise an issue in his Reply when he failed to address it in his opening brief).

Carlsen's central argument seems to be that he is denied his right to open courts as well as trial because the judge ruled *sua sponte*. The suggestion is belied by judicial

interpretation of the open courts provision as well as other settled case law. Courts routinely entertain motions brought *sua sponte* as well as grant relief beyond that for which litigants pray. The Supreme Court has affirmed this practice without even mention that it violates the open courts provision of the Utah Constitution. In *Workman v. Brighton Properties, Inc.*, the Supreme Court affirmed a trial court, who, when faced with a summary judgment motion from Workman, entered *sua sponte* summary judgment for Brighton. 1999 UT 30, ¶¶ 1, 5, 976 P.2d 1209. The Supreme Court decided a similar case in *Rees v. Albertson's Inc.*, 587 P.2d 130, 131-132 (Utah 1978). There, the court granted defendant's motion for summary judgment and then vacated the order. Then, without a motion, the court reconsidered and re-entered summary judgment for the defendant. *Id.*

The Supreme Court's analysis of each of these cases omits any mention of the open courts provision. The Supreme Court could have raised the issue if *sua sponte* rulings transgressed the Utah Constitution. *See State v. Lee*, 633 P.2d 48, 63-65 (Utah 1981) (stating that appeals courts may raise, *sua sponte*, arguments regarding possible deprivation of constitutional rights). The Court instead concerned itself with the propriety of the judgment as a matter of law and procedure.

IV. Carlsen does not, nor could he, provide analysis as to how he contends the trial court abused its discretion when it denied his motions to amend his pleadings.

Carlsen claims that the trial court should have allowed him to amend his lengthy Answer, Counterclaim, and Third-Party Complaint to include additional parties and additional theories of recovery. His briefing of the issue violates the Rules of Appellate

Procedure, and it should therefore be disregarded. Carlsen also fails to show that Judge Hadfield abused his discretion

A. *This issue is not properly presented for review.*

Carlsen provides this Court with no analysis to support his claim that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied his two motions to amend. His briefing of this matter is therefore inadequate and does not merit review. Carlsen, in his opening brief, is required to proffer “the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, including the grounds for reviewing any issue not preserved in the trial court, with citations to the authorities, statutes, and parts of the record relied on.” Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9). Appellants’ briefs must therefore include “reasoned analysis based upon relevant legal authority.” *Smith v. Smith*, 1999 UT App 370, ¶ 8, 995 P.2d 14; *State v. Sloan*, 2003 UT App 170, ¶ 15 n.1, 78 P.3d 138 (quoting *Smith*); *State v. Gamblin*, 2000 UT 44, ¶ 7, 1 P.3d 1108. Carlsen may not shift “the burden of argument and research” on this Court. *State v. Thomas*, 1999 UT 2, ¶ 11, 974 P.2d 269, quoting *State v. Bishop*, 753 P.2d 439, 450 (Utah 1988).

In *State v. Lee*, the Supreme Court did not review a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel because the appellant simply recited, in conclusory fashion, the elements of that doctrine and claimed that his counsel met each element. 2006 UT 5, ¶¶ 22-23, 128 P.3d 1179. The court noted that the appellant’s “argument fails to meet the threshold of argumentative completeness mandated by [Utah R. App. P. 24].” *Id.* Carlsen’s argument on this assignment of error is even less complete than the litigant in *Lee*. He simply states the test the trial court applied to the determination and concludes that it should

have allowed him to amend. (Appellant's Brief at 42-43.) Carlsen never addresses the trial court's finding that amendment would be futile. *Id.* He never states a reason for his conclusory assertion that the trial court abused its discretion. *Id.* He never proffers any legal analysis of the claimed error whatsoever. *Id.* Carlsen therefore fails to satisfy Rule 24, and this claimed error should be disregarded.

B. Amendment would have been futile, so the trial court's ruling was not an abuse of discretion.

The trial court correctly found that Carlsen's proposed amendment would have been futile. Its decision was therefore not an abuse of discretion, and it should be affirmed. "[L]eave to file an amended [counter-claim] should be denied when the moving party seeks to assert a new claim that is legally insufficient or futile." *Andalex Resources, Inc. v. Myers*, 871 P.2d 1041, 1046 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). *See also Kasco Services Corp. v. Benson*, 831 P.2d 86, 92-93 (Utah 1992); *Gary Proter Construction v. Fox Construction, Inc.*, 2004 UT App 354, ¶ 30, 101 P.3d 371.

Carlsen, in his two motions to amend, requested that the court allow him to add additional theories and additional parties to his third-party complaint. (R. 703-704, 694-702) The trial court denied these motions as futile in the same Memorandum decision in which it dismissed the entirety of the third-party complaint. *Id.* at 780-786. As mentioned above, the court is clearly within its discretion when it denies leave to amend a complaint that it finds futile. *Andalex*, 871 P.2d at 1046. Carlsen has not challenged the propriety of the dismissal, nor has he argued or even suggested that Judge Hadfield

erroneously concluded that this amendment was futile. The ruling should therefore be affirmed.

Carlsen also intimates that he wished to amend his pleading to include charges of fraud and fraudulent nondisclosure against Palatial Living. His proposed amended counterclaim, however, failed to state a claim against Palatial Living for either cause of action. To make out a claim for fraudulent non-disclosure, Carlsen would have had to show that Palatial Living had a legal obligation to disclose the information and also that he had no knowledge of the information he contends should have been provided. *Moore v. Smith*, 2007 UT App 101, ¶ 33, 158 P.3d 562. He fails, however, to proffer any allegation in his proposed counterclaim that would have shown that Palatial Living had a duty to disclose the substance of its conversations with the seller. Carlsen therefore failed to state a claim against Palatial Living in his proposed counterclaim and Judge Hadfield did not abuse his discretion when he denied Carlsen's motions to amend.

V. Conducting a Status Conference outside of Cache County was, at most, harmless since Mr. Carlsen actually participated in that conference.

Carlsen failed to preserve the arguments he now advances, and even if those arguments were correct, the trial court committed only harmless error. Palatial Living therefore suggests that this Court should dispose of this assignment of error. Carlsen has not preserved the issue, he fails to allege or show prejudice, and the undisputed facts of record shows that Judge Hadfield rescheduled the Status Conference in question so that Carlsen could participate telephonically. Therefore, Carlsen has waived this issue, and he fails to show that he was prejudiced.

A. *Carlsen failed to preserve his Rule 77(b) arguments.*

Carlsen's assignment of error relies on his interpretation of a rule of civil procedure to which he never referred at the trial level.¹ He has therefore waived his opportunity to contend that the location of the Status Conference violated Rule Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 77(b), and this assignment of error should not be considered. Palatial Living acknowledges that *pro se* litigants are usually due more leeway than litigants represented by counsel. The Utah Supreme Court, however, has repeatedly held that *pro se* appellants, especially those such as Carlsen who are familiar with the litigation process, are required to follow the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. *See State v. Schwenke*, 2007 UT App 354, *1, 2007 WL 3197537 (stating that “[a]lthough appellate courts are generally lenient with *pro se* litigants . . . such parties must still comply with the rules”), citing *Lundahl v. Quinn*, 2003 UT 11, ¶ 4, 67 P.3d 1000. Carlsen therefore must show that he preserved the arguments that he raises in this appeal. *State v. Winfield*, 2006 UT 4, ¶ 28, 128 P.3d 1171 (a *pro se* litigant must preserve issues for appeal in order to raise them notwithstanding the fact that they are not represented by counsel).

1. Carlsen never mentioned Rule 77(b) until this appeal and has therefore waived his right to raise arguments based on this rule.

Carlsen raised his Rule 77(b) arguments for the first time in his Appellant's Brief, and he therefore failed to preserve them for appeal. “Claims not raised before the [district] court may not be raised on appeal.” *State v. Cram*, 2002 UT 37, ¶ 9, 46 P.3d 230 (citation omitted); *State v. Robinson*, 2006 UT 65, ¶ 13, 147 P.3d 448 (citing *Cram*).

¹ Carlsen also cites to only one hearing in the record, so he has waived the right to refer to any other hearing not held in Cache County.

To preserve this issue, Carlsen was required to present it to the trial court in a timely fashion so that it would have had an opportunity to understand and rule on the issue. 438 *Main Street v. Easy Heat, Inc.*, 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51, 99 P.3d 801, *citing Brookside Mobile Home Park, Ltd. v. Peebles*, 2002 UT 48, ¶ 14, 48 P.3d 968. Carlsen was therefore required to make his objection with enough specificity so that the trial court would have notice of his arguments. *State v. Bujan*, 2006 UT App 322, ¶ 17, 142 P.3d 581; *quoting State v. Johnson*, 774 P.2d 1141, 1144 (Utah 1989). He failed to cite Rule 77(b) or even mention that the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure curtailed the locations in which a hearing may be held. The trial court was therefore never put on notice of Carlsen's instant arguments, and they are now waived.

Carlsen points the Court to a single document to justify this newly-raised issue. (*See* Appellant's Brief at 5.) He incorrectly claims that he preserved the issue in his Objections to Place of Status Conference. (R. at 812) That pleading includes no reference to Rule 77(b) whatsoever. *Id.* He does not mention or even allude to the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Instead, Carlsen relied on a number of Utah statutes regarding jurisdiction and venue.² (Appellant's Brief at 2) Simply put, Carlsen's pleading did not place the District Court or Palatial Living on notice that he intended to advance a Rule

² Carlsen cites several statutes, and each deals with venue and trial. (Appellant's Brief at 5.) Utah Code Ann. § 78-13-8 and -10 each discuss changing the venue of a civil matter. Utah Code Ann. § 78-13-1 and -4 each dictate the area in which actions on real property and written contracts must be tried. Utah Code Ann. § 73-13-9 promulgates situations in which the location of a trial may be changed. Utah Code Ann. § 78-13-11 governs fees for the transfer of venue. Carlsen also refers to a segment of the Code of Judicial Administration that refers to the care of court records. None of the cited rules have any bearing on the question of where hearings may be held within a district.

77(b) theory. He has therefore failed to preserve the issue for appellate review, and he has waived his ability to make further arguments about this issue in his reply. *Maack v. IHC Health Services, Inc.*, 2007 UT App 244, ¶ 30, 166 P.3d 631, *citing Brown v. Glover*, 2000 UT 89, ¶ 23, 16 P.3d 540. *See also Wilson v. Alaska Dept. of Corrections*, 127 P.3d 826, 833 n.41 (Ala. 2006) (noting that a *pro se* appellant waived his right to raise an issue in his Reply when he failed to address it in his opening brief).

2. Judge Hadfield did not commit plain error.

Allowing a Status Conference to be held outside of a county while allowing all interested litigants to appear telephonically is not in error and it does not prejudice a litigant's rights. Carlsen has failed to satisfy his burden to show harm from the hearings set in Brigham City, and therefore, there was no plain error on Judge Hadfield's behalf.³ He also failed to proffer a "statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the trial court." Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(5)(B). "To establish plain error, [a defendant is] required to demonstrate that (i) an error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the [district] court; and (iii) the error is harmful, i.e., absent the error, there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome for the appellant." *State v. Robison*, 2006 UT 65, ¶ 14, 147 P.3d 448 (citation and quotation omitted).

Carlsen fails in his Appellant's Brief to allege how any error was harmful. No rights were adjudicated in the Status Conference. No motions were decided, and no oral arguments were held. The Minutes from the Status Conference show that the Court

³ Carlsen did not brief plain error, either. He has therefore waived his right to raise this issue in his Reply.

discussed with the parties ongoing discovery and set a cutoff date to which Carlsen agreed. (R. 902) The Court also discussed jury instructions and other pretrial matters in which Mr. Carlsen was allowed to fully participate. *Id.* None of the issues discussed in the Status Conference have a bearing on Palatial Living's motion for summary judgment. *Id.*

Moreover, the Court allowed Mr. Carlsen to participate fully by telephone. (R. 902) The Minutes of that conference also indicate that Carlsen actively participated in the hearing. *Id.* He, for instance, agreed to the date set by the Court for discovery cutoff. Interestingly, the Minutes also indicate that Palatial Living's attorney was unable to be present either in person or telephonically. *Id.* It is therefore difficult to understand how Carlsen, who participated in the conference, was prejudiced by the conference's location when Palatial Living's attorney was unable to participate at all.

Any error committed by Judge Hadfield in this context would also not have been obvious. The Court, after receiving Carlsen's Objections, agreed to reschedule the hearing and made accommodations that would allow Carlsen to appear at the hearing telephonically. Judge Hadfield could still hold the hearing outside the county in which the action was brought if the parties consented. *See* Utah R. Civ. P. 77(b). Carlsen also attended and participated in the conference telephonically. (R. 902) Given that the Judge made accommodations for Carlsen of which he would later avail himself, it would not have been obvious to Judge Hadfield that Carlsen did not consent to the hearing.

B. Any error in holding this hearing outside of Cache County was harmless because Carlsen actively participated and no adjudication occurred.

Carlsen was heard at the hearing, no rights were determined, and the outcome of this matter would have been the same regardless of the hearing. Regardless of whether or not the trial court erred in conducting the Status Conference in Brigham City, there are no facts in the record that would show Carlsen was prejudiced in any way because the Court held a status conference's location. Regardless of whether or not there was an error, to prevail in this appeal, Carlsen must show that there is a reasonable likelihood that summary judgment would have been granted if the status conference were held in Cache County. *See Jones v. Cyprus Plateau Min. Corp.*, 944 P.2d 357, 360 (Utah 1997) *citing Harline v. Barker*, 912 P.2d 433, 442 (Utah 1996) (an error is harmless unless there is a reasonable likelihood that the error affected the outcome of the lawsuit).⁴

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